# ON APPEAL TO THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **TERRI WILSON**

#### APPELLANT

vs.

## SHANE NANCE

## CIVIL ACTION NO: 2007-CA-01438

APPELLEE

# APPELLANT'S MEMORANDUM BRIEF OF LAW SEEKING REVERSAL AND REMAND OF THE ORDER OF THE TRIAL COURT

BRANDON SCOTT LESLIE ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLANT SHELTON & ASSOCIATES, P.A. 218 NORTH SPRING STREET P.O. BOX 1362 TUPELO, MS 38802 TELEPHONE: (662) 842-5051 FACSIMILE: (662) 841-1941

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF BENTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

# CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Course of Proceedings and Disposition of the Court Below.

This matter comes before this Honorable Court on appeal from the Circuit Court of Benton County, Mississippi. This matter was originally brought on behalf of the Plaintiff/Appellant, Terri Wilson regarding an automobile accident caused by the Defendant/Appellee, Shane Nance.

The matter was set before a jury in the Circuit Court of Benton County, Mississippi on October 4, 2006 in front of Circuit Judge Andrew Howorth. On that day, Plaintiff's counsel learned of new information that questioned the competency of Plaintiff, Terri Wilson. Upon a hearing brought forth by Plaintiff's counsel, Judge Howorth declared a mistrial and entered an Order that instructed Plaintiff to establish a guardianship within 90 days.

Plaintiff's counsel filed a Petition to Appoint Conservator on November 15, 2006 in the Chancery Court of Benton County, Mississippi. That a Decree Appointing a Conservator was signed by Benton County Chancery Judge Glenn Alderson on March 16, 2007.

That the Circuit Court of Benton County granted Defendant's Motion to Dismiss the action on April 3, 2007. Plaintiff then filed a Motion for Reconsideration on April 13, 2007. Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration was denied on June 27, 2007. On July 24, 2007 the Plaintiff/Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal to this Honorable Court seeking reversal of the trial court's order dismissing the action and requesting this Honorable Court remand the matter to the Circuit Court of Benton County to be set for trial.

## B. Statement of the Facts.

On or about February 26, 2000, Terri Wilson was a guest passenger in a vehicle driven by Shane Nance that was involved in a one- car collision on Highway 4 in Benton County, Mississippi. R.E. at "A", *Complaint.* The accident was caused by the negligence of Shane Nance, who was intoxicated while operating the motor vehicle. *Id.* 

As a result of the accident, Terri Wilson suffered severe physical injuries, including brain trauma, and was later placed on disability due to the injuries she sustained. *Id.* 

On October 4, 2006, the matter was set for trial in the Circuit Court of Benton County, Mississippi. R.E. at "B". On that day, Plaintiff's counsel learned of new information that questioned the competency of Plaintiff, Terri Wilson. *Id.* Upon a hearing brought forth by Plaintiff's counsel, Judge Howorth declared a mistrial and entered an Order that instructed Plaintiff to establish a guardianship within 90 days. *Id.* 

Plaintiff's counsel filed a Petition to Appoint Conservator on November 15, 2006 in the Chancery Court of Benton County, Mississippi. That a Decree Appointing a Conservator was signed by Benton County Chancery Judge Glenn Alderson on March 16, 2007. R.E. at "C."

That the Circuit Court of Benton County granted Defendant's Motion to Dismiss the action on April 3, 2007. R.E. at "D". Plaintiff then filed a Motion for Reconsideration on April 13, 2007. R.E. at "E". Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration was denied on June 27, 2007. R.E. at "F." On July 24, 2007 the Plaintiff/Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal to this Honorable Court seeking reversal of the trial court's and requesting this Honorable Court remand the matter to the Circuit Court of Benton County to be set for trial. R.E. at "G."

### <u>III.</u>

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant contends that the trial court erred and abused its discretion in dismissing the action. Appellant asserts that she complied with the Order of the trial Court entered on October 4, 2006, showed good faith and full diligence in complying with said Order, and that any delay or noncompliance with the Order was not caused by dilatory actions or wanton disregard for the Order by the Plaintiff.

Appellant argues that any noncompliance of the Order did not prejudice the Defendant, or cause the Court burden. It is without dispute that a conservatorship had been established by the time the trial Court dismissed the action.

Furthermore, Appellant argues that less drastic sanctions were available had the Court found that Plaintiff was in violation of the Order entered on October 4, 2006.

# IV. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

#### A. Standard of Review.

The standard of review of an involuntary dismissal is an abuse of discretion. *Wallace v.* Jones, 572 So.2d 371, 375 (Miss.1990).

#### B. Applicable Law.

Rule 41(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides for an involuntary dismissal with prejudice, "[f]or failure of the plaintiff to prosecute or to comply with these rules or any order of court, a defendant may move for dismissal of an action or of any claim against him." The rule also allows for the dismissal to operate as an adjudication on the merits. *Id.* However, because the law favors a trial on the merits, a dismissal with prejudice should be executed reluctantly. *Hoffman v. Paracelsus Health Care*, 752 So.2d 1030, 1034 (Miss.1999). It is an extreme and harsh sanction which is reserved for the most egregious cases. *Id.* "Moreover, dismissal for failure to comply with an order of the [court] is appropriate only where there is a clear record of delay or contumacious conduct and lesser sanctions would not serve the best interests of justice." *Wallace*, 572 So.2d at 376.

"Dismissal is authorized only when the failure to comply with the court's order results from willfulness or bad faith, and not from the inability to comply. Dismissal is proper only in a situation where the deterrent value of Rule 37 cannot be substantially achieved by the use of less drastic sanctions. Another consideration is whether the party's preparation for trial was substantially prejudiced. Finally, dismissal may be inappropriate when neglect is plainly attributable to an attorney rather than a blameless client, or when a party's simple negligence is grounded on confusion or sincere misunderstanding of the court's orders." *Pierce v. Heritage Properties, Inc.*, 688 So.2d 1385 (Miss. 1997).

<u>C.</u> Argument.

Appellant asserts that the trial court abused its discretion in dismissing the action set in the Circuit Court of Benton County.

#### 1. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion in Dismissing the Action.

The Circuit Court of Benton County Abused its discretion in dismissing the Plaintiff's action for failure to comply with a previous Order of the Court. Appellant asserts that she attempted to comply in good faith and any delay in complying with the Court's Order was not the result of negligence or dilatory conduct by the Appellant. In addition, the Appellant argues that the delay in complying with the Court's Order in no way prejudiced the Defendant/Appellee, and that had the Court found sanctions necessary, less drastic sanctions were available to the Court. The Appellant asserts that this Honorable Court should reverse the Order dismissing the Appellant's action, and remand the matter back to the Circuit Court of Benton County for a trial on the merits.

Rule 41(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides for an involuntary dismissal with prejudice, "[f]or failure of the plaintiff to prosecute or to comply with these rules or any order of court, a defendant may move for dismissal of an action or of any claim against him." The rule also allows for the dismissal to operate as an adjudication on the merits. *Id.* However, because the law favors a trial on the merits, a dismissal with prejudice should be executed reluctantly. *Hoffman v. Paracelsus Health Care*, 752 So.2d 1030, 1034 (Miss.1999). It

is an extreme and harsh sanction which is reserved for the most egregious cases. *Id.* "Moreover, dismissal for failure to comply with an order of the [court] is appropriate only where there is a clear record of delay or contumacious conduct and lesser sanctions would not serve the best interests of justice." *Wallace*, 572 So.2d at 376.

"Dismissal is authorized only when the failure to comply with the court's order results from willfulness or bad faith, and not from the inability to comply. Dismissal is proper only in a situation where the deterrent value of Rule 37 cannot be substantially achieved by the use of less drastic sanctions. Another consideration is whether the party's preparation for trial was substantially prejudiced. Finally, dismissal may be inappropriate when neglect is plainly attributable to an attorney rather than a blameless client, or when a party's simple negligence is grounded on confusion or sincere misunderstanding of the court's orders." *Pierce v. Heritage Properties, Inc.*, 688 So.2d 1385 (Miss. 1997).

It can hardly be argued that the delay in establishing a conservatorship/guardianship for the Plaintiff in this matter was the result of "willfulness, bad faith" or "contumacious conduct." The Plaintiff did in fact file her Petition to Appoint a Conservator well within the time frame designated by the Order entered on October 4, 2006. The delay in concluding the matter was outside the scope of the Plaintiff, as it had been set a total of three previous dates before the matter was finally resolved. In addition, the Appellant provided to the Court medical documentation and letters from treating physicians regarding her mental state and ability to handle her own affairs. The Plaintiff acted in good faith to comply with the Order.

Appellant also asserts that less drastic sanctions were available to the Court, and that the Court abused its discretion in dismissing the action. Appellant contends that the delay in complying with the Court's Order did not prejudice the Defendant/Appellee. The Appellee, however, will aver that the prolonged litigation prejudiced him by the necessity of additional costs and attorney fees. That may well be, however, the Court could have taxed those fees and costs to the Plaintiff instead of dismissing the action entirely. Other than costs and fees, Appellee cannot assert that he was prejudiced in any other such matter. The Circuit Court had, at its disposal, less drastic available sanctions to remedy this slight prejudicial impact, and it abused its discretion in not applying those means.

The undersigned further asserts that she is a "blameless client", and if any party is liable for the delay in complying with the Court's Order, it is not her. The Appellant contends that she acted in good faith in timely filing the Petition to Appoint a Conservator, had established the Conservatorship by the time the Court had dismissed the action, and the delay did not prejudice the Defendant or the Court. Matters brought before any Court, either Circuit or Chancery, are often and regularly delayed for reasons outside the Plaintiff's control. As has been stated, this matter was set in the Chancery Court of Benton County, Mississippi on three dates prior to the final disposition date. The Plaintiff/Appellant can hardly be blamed for the delay, and she is in fact a blameless client.

This Honorable Court should reverse and remand this matter to the Benton County Circuit Court. The trial court abused its discretion in dismissing the action when the Plaintiff/Appellant acted in good faith to comply, caused little if any prejudice to the Defendant/Appellee, the trial Court had less drastic sanctions available to remedy the delay, and the Plaintiff/Appellant was a blameless client. The trial court's action does not meet the standard for dismissal, and as such, the Court's Order should be reversed and remanded.

# <u>V.</u> CONCLUSION

The Appellant contends that the trial court erred and abused its discretion in dismissing the action. Appellant asserts that she complied with the Order of the trial Court entered on October 4, 2006, showed good faith and full diligence in complying with said Order, and that any delay or noncompliance with the Order was not caused by dilatory actions or wanton disregard for the Order by the Plaintiff.

Appellant argues that any noncompliance of the Order did not prejudice the Defendant, or cause the Court burden. It is without dispute that a conservatorship had been established by the time the trial Court dismissed the action.

Furthermore, Appellant argues that less drastic sanctions were available had the Court found that Plaintiff was in violation of the Order entered on October 4, 2006. This Honorable Court should reverse the trial court's Order and remand the matter to the Circuit Court of Benton for a trial on the merits.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, this the <u>7</u> day of April, 2008.

TERRI WILSON, APPELLANT FOR PLAINTIFF

**OF COUNSEL:** 

SHELTON LAW FIRM, P.A. 218 North Spring Street Post Office Box 1362 Tupelo, Mississippi 38802-1362 (662) 842-5051 fax: (662) 841-1941

÷

······