# BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO.: 2007-1438

# **TERRI WILSON,**

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

VS.

SHANE NANCE,

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE** 

Wendell H. Trapp, Jr. Mitchell, McNutt & Sams, P.A. 508 Waldron Street Post Office Box 1200 Corinth, Mississippi 38835-1200 662/286-9931

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE, SHANE NANCE

**ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED** 

İ.

ł

# BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# NO.: 2007-TS-1438

#### **TERRI WILSON,**

#### APPELLANT

VS.

SHANE NANCE,

### APPELLEE

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of Benton County took extraordinary action in declaring a mistrial on October 4, 2006, after both parties appeared and announced ready for trial, and after the Court had qualified the jury. Only then did Wilson move for a continuance. In support of Wilson's motion, Wilson offered the testimony of her mother who testified that Wilson had been undergoing psychiatric consultations which prevented Wilson from assisting in the prosecution of her lawsuit (R. II, 248-250). No medical or medically-related testimony or proof was offered to support the position taken by Wilson. In response to the motion, Nance submitted to the court Wilson's discovery responses and deposition which did not reveal any psychiatric consultations since June, 2002, a date before the subject lawsuit was even filed (R. II, 144. R. II, 247). After considering the proof, the court declared a mistrial based upon Wilson's motion, and the testimony submitted in support thereof (R. II, 248-250). In view of the extraordinary action taken by the court, the court went further in its Order Declaring Mistrial and directed that a guardianship for Wilson be pursued and completed within 90 days from October 4, 2006, and ordered that the case would be dismissed if such did not occur (R. II, 248-250). Wilson did not object to the ruling of the court or the condition requiring the establishment of a guardianship within 90 days. A guardianship for Wilson, however, was not established within 90 days and upon motion of Nance to dismiss, the trial court dismissed the case (R. II, 337-341).

The Circuit Court of Benton County was well within its rights in dismissing the subject case. The Court granted to Wilson relief sought by Wilson (avoidance of the trial scheduled for October 4, 2006), but clearly and unequivocally conditioned that relief upon Wilson's pursuing and completing the establishment of a guardianship within 90 days from October 4, 2006. The court clearly and unequivocally also announced that failure to do so would result in dismissal of the action. The court's action was within the court's right to control its docket, to enforce its 550722

i.

orders, and to provide for an orderly progression of cases; and was also consistent with the <u>Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure</u>. It is respectfully submitted that the action of the Circuit Court of Benton County in dismissing the subject action should be affirmed.

#### FACTS

On February 26, 2000, a one-vehicle accident occurred (R. I. 1). At the time of the accident, Shane Nance was driving the vehicle and Terri Wilson was occupying it. Following the accident, Wilson filed suit in the Circuit Court of Benton County against Nance (R. I. 1). Trial of the case was scheduled and continued on two separate occasions. Finally, the case was once again scheduled for trial on October 4, 2006. On October 4, 2006, both parties appeared in court and announced ready to proceed. A jury panel likewise was present. The trial judge qualified the jury panel and took a break. Following qualification of the jury panel, Wilson moved for a continuance of the trial, claiming, through her attorney, that she was not able to assist in connection with presentation of her case at trial. Wilson offered her mother as a witness. Wilson's mother testified that Wilson had recently undergone psychiatric consultations. No medical or medically- related testimony (through a psychiatrist or psychologist or other health care provider) was supplied orally or in writing to support the contentions of Wilson's mother. Nance, however, offered the discovery responses of Wilson which did not indicate any recent psychiatric consultations, and in fact, evidenced that Wilson's last consult of any health care provider for psychiatric or psychological reasons occurred in June, 2002, prior to the filing of the subject case. Nance also showed that Wilson had participated in the pre-trial proceedings, including discovery and had testified by deposition.

After considering the proof, the trial court declared a mistrial (choosing to declare a mistrial rather than grant a continuance because the case had actually progressed to the point of qualification of the jury panel). In it's Order Declaring Mistrial, the trial judge directed that

£ :

i

Wilson "pursue and complete" the establishment of a guardianship within 90 days or the subject action would be dismissed. Wilson did not object to the Order Declaring Mistrial, or any aspect thereof. After the passage of 90 days, with no guardianship having been pursued or completed, Nance moved to dismiss in accordance with the provisions contained in the Order Declaring Mistrial. A hearing on the Motion to Dismiss was conducted. The parties were permitted to present argument, after which the trial court entered an Order of Dismissal with Prejudice. The trial court specifically referred to the testimony of Wilson's mother regarding Wilson's psychiatric consultations and the discovery responses of Wilson which did not disclose any such consultations after June, 2002. The trial court, further, observed that a guardianship had not been pursued and completed by Wilson within the 90 days as ordered by the court. Wilson filed a Motion for Reconsideration. After a hearing on that motion, the court declined the relief sought by Wilson in Wilson's Motion for Reconsideration. From that ruling, Wilson has sought this appeal.

#### ARGUMENT

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellee agrees with Appellant's statement that "abuse of discretion" is the standard of review in this case. In that connection, guidance has been given with respect to that standard.

"This Court must 'decide whether the . . . court could have entered the order which it did.' <u>Id</u>. Under this standard, this Court will affirm unless there is a 'definite and firm conviction that the court below committed a clear error of judgment in the conclusion it reached upon weighing of relevant factors.""

<u>Cooper v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.</u>, 568 So.2d 687 (Miss. 1990). The standard is not whether the appellate court would have dismissed the action, but whether the trial court abused its discretion in so doing. <u>National Hockey League v. Metropolitan Hockey Club, Inc.</u>, 427 U.S. 639 (1976).

Ļ

# THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE PROVIDE FOR DISMISSAL OF AN ACTION WHEN A PLAINTIFF FAILS TO ABIDE BY THE ORDER OF A COURT

The issue in this appeal is whether or not a trial court may take action authorized by law to implement and enforce its orders under circumstances when the court has been misled, and where the party on whose behalf misleading testimony has been offered, has also failed to take action ordered by the trial court. This issue arises in this case in the context of a party (Wilson) who offered misleading testimony through her mother in support of a motion for continuance, and obtained an order of the trial court declaring a mistrial, but which order also required Wilson to pursue, and establish, a guardianship. When the order was entered by the court, Wilson gladly accepted, and took advantage of, the relief granted to her (mistrial), and did not oppose any of the mandates of the order, including the mandate that a guardianship be established. Should a trial court be deprived of the ability to implement its order by dismissing a case under these circumstances?

Rule 41 of the <u>Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure</u> provides for dismissal of actions. Involuntary dismissals appear in Section (b) where it is stated:

"For failure of the plaintiff to prosecute or to comply with these rules, or any order of a court, a defendant may move for dismissal of an action or of any claim against him".

In the Comments to the Rule the following is provided:

"Rule 41 (b) allows the court to dismiss an action involuntarily for three different causes.

Dismissal for failure to comply with 'these rules' or any order of the court.

Unless otherwise specifically ordered by the court, an involuntary dismissal under Rule 41 (b) ordinarily operates as an adjudication upon the merits and is with prejudice."

Į

The foregoing is in keeping with recognition of the fact that a court must control its docket. <u>Dew v. Langford</u>, 666 So.2d 739 (Miss. 1995); <u>In re: Merrell</u>, 658 So.2d 50 (Miss. 1995); <u>Liberty Savings and Loan Association v. Mitchell</u>, 398 So.2d 208 (Miss. 1981); <u>Koerner v. Crittendon</u>, 635 So.2d 833 (Miss. App. 1994); <u>Watts v. Pennington</u>, 598 So.2d 1308 (Miss. App. 1992).

In the case <u>sub judice</u>, the Circuit Court of Benton County entered an Order Declaring Mistrial, Etc. (R.E.B). The Order Declaring Mistrial was entered in response to Wilson's motion for continuance which was made after both parties had appeared and announced ready for trial and after the jury panel had been qualified. (R.E.B). In support of Wilson's motion, Wilson's mother testified suggesting that Wilson was under the care of a psychiatrist. This factor was specifically incorporated into the trial court's Order Declaring Mistrial, Etc.

"On redirect examination, Kay Wilson testified . . . that the Plaintiff had been on medication since the day of the accident, and had been receiving psychiatric treatment. Dr. Rayudu was specifically mentioned by Kay Wilson as providing psychiatric treatment." (R. II, 249).

After considering the motion, the trial court declared a mistrial, with the court incorporating in its Order that the **sole** basis for declaring the mistrial was the claim that Wilson was in need of a guardian.

"Based upon the contention of Plaintiff's counsel that Plaintiff needs to have a guardian appointed, and based upon the fact that that is the sole reason for declaring a mistrial  $\dots$ " (R. II, 249).

In view of such, the trial court directed that Wilson "pursue and complete" the establishment of a guardianship within 90 days of October 4, 2006.

"It is ordered that Plaintiff seek relief of the Chancery Court of the County of Plaintiff's residence and present the matter as to whether or not a guardian should be appointed for Plaintiff to said Chancery Court. Plaintiff is directed to pursue and complete such efforts within 90 days of October 4, 2006." (R. II, 249-250). The trial court went even further and, on a crystal clear basis, advised Wilson of what would occur in the event that Wilson failed to take the action ordered by the court.

"In the event that Plaintiff fails to proceed as directed, or in the event that a guardian is not appointed for Plaintiff, the Court shall dismiss the cause of action, with prejudice." (R. II, 250).

From the foregoing, it is clear that the Circuit Court of Benton County took extraordinary action by declaring a mistrial based solely and only upon the presentation of testimony that Wilson was receiving psychiatric treatment and needed a guardian. The trial court set forth in plain, simple, unequivocal terms that Wilson should "pursue and complete" the establishment of a guardianship within 90 days of October 4, 2006 and provided in simple, clear and unequivocal terms that the case would be dismissed with prejudice in the event that Wilson failed so to do. There was no objection by Wilson.

When Wilson failed to heed the plain, simple, unequivocal order of the court by which Wilson was granted the benefit of a mistrial, Nance moved to dismiss in accordance with the content of the Order Declaring Mistrial, Etc. Nance's motion was scheduled for argument on March 20, 2007, at which time the parties appeared, and argued the motion. At the conclusion of the argument, the trial court entered its "Order of Dismissal with Prejudice" (R.E.D). In its Order of Dismissal with Prejudice, the court recounted the facts presented at the time the mistrial was declared.

"During a break, after the jury qualification, Plaintiff's attorney orally moved for a continuance, it being contended that the Plaintiff was not psychologically prepared to go forward with the trial. In support of that argument, Kay Wilson (mother of Plaintiff) testified that the Plaintiff had recently undergone psychiatric consultations." (R. II, 337)

The trial court noted that its Order Declaring Mistrial had directed Wilson to "pursue and complete" the establishment of a guardianship within 90 days of October 4, 2006, or her case would be dismissed with prejudice. The trial court correctly found that a guardianship had not

i

ł,

been pursued or completed within the 90 period. The court noted that a Petition for Conservatorship had been filed within the 90 day period, but a conservatorship was not established until March 16, 2007, which was 73 days after the date established by the court for the guardianship to be established. The trial court, further, addressed the issue of the proof offered by Wilson at the time the mistrial was declared, i.e.; Wilson's psychiatric consultations. The trial court specifically found an absence of any psychiatric consultations since June, 2002, a matter which conflicted with the testimony of Wilson's mother at the time the mistrial was declared, which was the sole reason for the mistrial.

"The Court further finds that the only records of any of Plaintiff's psychiatric consultations involved consultations that occurred in June, 2002, which documents are made exhibits to Plaintiff's Petition for Conservatorship. There has not been presented to the Court any records or testimony of any psychiatrist or psychologist of treatment of Plaintiff for any psychiatric or psychological condition after June, 2002. Hence, there is no proof before the Court of any psychiatric or psychological treatment sought or received by the Plaintiff since the date on which the subject suit was filed. The absence of such records of treatment/consultation are not consistent with testimony presented at the time the mistrial was declared, that the Plaintiff had recently consulted Dr. Rayudu, a psychiatrist (R. III, 338).

The Court further found that Wilson had failed to offer any proof to justify Wilson's noncompliance (R. III, 339). Accordingly, the Court dismissed Wilson's cause of action. (R.E.B). Wilson filed a Motion for Reconsideration which was argued. The trial court, however, refused to retreat from its ruling dismissing the case. (R.E.F)."

The action of the trial court in dismissing the case is in accord with Rule 41 of the <u>Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure</u>. The trial court's action in dismissing the case under these circumstances was not an abuse of discretion, and the trial court's action should be upheld.

#### **Rule 4 Analogy**

The situation presented by the case sub judice can to some extent be analogized to cases in which a plaintiff fails timely to serve summons. Rule 4 of the <u>Mississippi Rules of Civil</u>

ŧ :

i.

<u>Procedure</u> grants to a plaintiff 120 days to serve summons following the date on which the complaint is filed. Failure to serve summons within that period of time, by Rule, results in dismissal of the plaintiff's complaint. <u>Watters v. Stripling</u>, 675 So.2d 1242 (Miss. 1996).

In the case <u>sub judice</u> Wilson was given a 90 day period to take action ordered by the trial court. The action to be taken was clearly stated. The time period for the action to be taken was clearly stated, and Wilson was clearly advised that the case would be dismissed if Wilson failed to take that action. The trial court's order, therefore, contained the same components as Rule 4.

Rule 4 provides direction to a plaintiff of what to do (serve summons), the time by which it is to be done (120 days), and the consequences for a failure to do as directed (dismissal). Similarly, the trial court's Order Declaring Mistrial specified what Plaintiff was to do (pursue and complete establishment of a guardianship), the time by which it was to be done (90 days) and the consequences for failing to do as directed (dismissal). As Rule 41(b), equates disobedience of a Rule with disobedience of a court order, the subject order which was disobeyed by Wilson is deserving of the same standing as Rule 4.

The trial court's dismissal of the subject case should not be overruled unless it is determined that there was an abuse of discretion, i.e., that an order was entered which could not have been entered. In fact, for reversal it must be found by a "definite and firm conviction" that the trial judge committed "clear error." <u>Cooper v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co.</u>, 568 So.2d 687 (Miss. 1990). The trial judge did nothing more than implement the consequences which he, in his Order Declaring Mistrial, specifically communicated directly to Wilson would be implemented. It is worthy of note that Wilson did not take issue with dismissal as a consequence at the time the mistrial was declared, nor did Wilson seek any qualification or otherwise. Wilson accepted the ruling of the Court without any opposition, thereby presumably agreeing that the

.

÷

İ.

ł,

trial court had the authority to issue such an order and that such an order was reasonable, and appropriate.

It is recognized that Rule 4 provides a means of avoiding dismissal even when a litigant fails to adhere to its mandate. Rule 4 provides that upon a showing of "good cause" the litigant's case will not be dismissed. The "good cause" standard, however, is a standard that is not lightly met for Rule 4 purposes. It imposes upon a plaintiff the burden of establishing good cause. Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority, 815 So.2d 1183 (Miss. 2002). It requires a plaintiff to demonstrate "at least as much as would be required to show excusable neglect, as to which simple inadvertence or mistake of counsel, or ignorance of the Rules usually does not suffice". Bang v. Pittman, 749 So.2d 47 (Miss. 1999). It is recognized as a "very strict standard". Moore v. Boyd, 799 So.2d 133 (Miss. App. 2001). Absence of "good cause" has been found in cases despite proof by plaintiffs that the plaintiff made efforts to comply with Rule 4. Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority, supra, in cases in which a defendant was alleged to be evading summons. Webster v. Webster, 2002 W.L. 31320504 (Miss. 2002); and in cases in which service of summons was partially complete. Collum v. Senholtz, 767 So.2d 215 (Miss. App. 2000).

It is respectfully submitted that the standard applicable to the case <u>sub judice</u> imposes an even greater burden upon a plaintiff, the burden of establishing an abuse of discretion. It is submitted that Wilson's failure to perform as required by the Order Declaring Mistrial would not be excused even under the "good cause" standard applicable to Rule 4. Wilson, to this day, has not pursued or established a guardianship. Wilson offered little more than proof of some unsuccessful efforts to establish a conservatorship within the 90 day period. Unsuccessful efforts to accomplish details (such as service of summons) fail even to satisfy the good cause "standard". <u>Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority, supra</u>. A mere effort to comply by Wilson would therefore certainly not suffice when abuse of discretion is the standard.

i

ł

÷ -

E

#### Commencing, but not completing action is not sufficient

The mere fact that Wilson began (but did not finish within the 90 period), efforts to establish a conservatorship (not a guardianship) is not compliance with the trial court's order that a guardianship be "pursued and completed" within 90 days. The trial court's order was as explicit and unequivocal as it could be. It required the guardianship to be pursued and **completed** within the 90 day period. That admittedly did not occur.

"Now, did we comply with the 90 days? No." (R. IV, 12).

Even if the trial court's order had not been so explicit, Mississippi case law supports the proposition that the mere commencement of efforts to secure relief (such as the filing of a motion) is not the equivalent of taking the action. <u>Curry v. Turner</u>, 832 So.2d 508 (Miss. 2002), is a case in which a plaintiff filed a motion to amend a complaint within the limitations period (and attached a copy of the proposed Amended Complaint to the motion), but did not immediately obtain an order of the court sustaining the motion, and did not file the Amended Complaint within the limitations period. The <u>Curry</u> Court found that the mere filing of the motion (commencement of an action for relief) was not sufficient to toll the statute of limitations despite the fact that the motion to amend ultimately was sustained. Consequently, the <u>Curry</u> Plaintiff's case as to defendants sought to be added by the Amended Complaint was deemed barred by the statute of limitations.

In the case <u>sub judice</u>, Wilson did not comply with the trial court's order. Wilson did not "pursue or complete" the establishment of a guardianship at any time, and merely began the process to try to establish a conservatorship within the 90 day period mandated by the trial court, but did not complete that until 163 days after October 4, 2006. Wilson's actions are therefore, not compliant with the trial court's order, and the trial court was justified in taking the action it did.

ł.

Ĺ.

t

Similarly, unsuccessful efforts to serve summons within the time provided by Rule 4 have been found insufficient to prevent a Rule 4 dismissal. <u>Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority</u>, 815 So.2d 1183 (Miss. 2002). In fact, a plaintiff's service of summons one day beyond the 120 day period provided by Rule 4 has resulted in dismissal. <u>Collum v. Senholtz</u>, 767 So.2d 215 (Miss. App. 2000) as has a plaintiff's service of summons two days beyond the 120 day period. <u>Bang v. Pittman</u>, 749 So.2d 47 (Miss. 1999). Certainly action (though not even the action mandated by the court) 73 days beyond the court ordered action date is more deserving of dismissal.

These cases clearly indicate that it is the end result that matters, not an effort to comply. Clearly, and admittedly, Plaintiff did not comply with the trial court's order and Wilson's allegations of efforts to comply are insufficient to prevent dismissal.

#### Failure to prosecute analogy

Would this case have been any different if the trial court had ordered Wilson to set the case for trial within a specified period of time or risk dismissal on grounds of failure to prosecute? Dismissal for such has been upheld. <u>Hine v. Anchor Lake Property Owners Ass'n, Inc.</u>, 911 So.2d 1001 (Miss. App. 2005). The behavior of Wilson in the case <u>sub judice</u> is to some extent similar to such a situation. Wilson was granted a specified period of time within which to accomplish the establishment of a guardianship, or have her case dismissed. Wilson clearly did not obey that order of the trial court and the action of the trial court in dismissing the case was completely appropriate.

#### Dismissal as a discovery sanction

The case <u>sub judice</u> is much more extreme than cases in which dismissal has been found appropriate as a discovery sanction. In this case, Wilson sought a continuance for the first time after announcing ready for trial and after qualification of the jury panel. The court received

t ·

İ.

proof submitted by Wilson in support of Wilson's motion, and granted to Wilson the relief sought by Wilson (declaring a mistrial rather than a continuance since trial of the case had already started). The relief however, was accompanied with clear, simple obligations, and came with a statement as to precisely what would occur in the event that Wilson failed to take the action required by the trial court in return for declaring the mistrial, i.e., "pursue and complete" establishment of a guardianship for Wilson. Wilson was present, and did not object or seek any qualification, but rather accepted the order of the court. This case, therefore, does not involve unforeseeable consequences, but rather involves simply the implementation of a prior order of the trial court. It must be presumed that the court's action was reasonable when it was taken, because Wilson did not object, or take any issue whatsoever with the trial court's action. Had the trial court's action been unreasonable, certainly one would expect Wilson to have made a record to that effect. There is, however, no such record. Wilson did not challenge the court's order that a guardianship be established, the time period for establishing the guardianship, or the consequences for failing to establish the guardianship. By failing to object, Wilson consented to the court's order. Only after Wilson failed to take the action required, and only after the case was dismissed, as the trial court warned that it would be, did Wilson complain.

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